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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Good morning.

          3  Today we will be hearing testimony on two separate

          4  Campaign Finance bills. The first bill that we will

          5  consider is Intro. No. 930, I believe. Let me just

          6  make sure. Yes, 930. And then Intro. No. 931.

          7                 The first legislation is proposed by

          8  the Mayor and the second one by the Campaign Finance

          9  Board. I think the most important thing to state, in

         10  terms of both of these pieces of legislation, is

         11  that this will be the first hearing on both of these

         12  pieces of legislation. This will be followed by a

         13  subsequent hearing before there is final action

         14  taken on these legislations.

         15                 Our first witness is Adam Barsky, and

         16  will you please identify yourself by name, title and

         17  agency. Thank you.

         18                 MR. BARSKY: Good morning, Chairwoman

         19  Pinkett, and members of the Council. I am happy

         20  today to address your Committee. My name is Adam

         21  Barsky, and although I am the Mayor's Budget

         22  Director, I come before you today in my other

         23  capacity as the Chairman of the New York City

         24  Employees Retirement System.

         25                 I am here this morning to urge the
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          2  Committee to approve Intro. 930 as soon as possible.

          3                 This is legislation, as you have

          4  mentioned, that the Mayor has submitted to the

          5  Council, and while we have accomplished a great deal

          6  in the area of Campaign Finance, there does

          7  currently exist, while maybe several loopholes, one

          8  particular loophole that has the potential to allow

          9  campaign contributors to unduly influence the

         10  decisions of elected officials.

         11                 This legislation closes that major

         12  gap in the Campaign Finance Law by prohibiting

         13  candidates in the Campaign Finance Program from

         14  accepting money from investment advisors who have

         15  performed work in connection with the investment of

         16  City pension fund dollars.

         17                 However, there will still be allowed

         18  individual contributions of $250 if you can vote for

         19  that particular candidate, however, that would not

         20  be a matching amount.

         21                 As you know, the City invests

         22  billions of dollars of pension funds money in

         23  private companies every year, and it is critical

         24  that decisions about where to invest those pension

         25  funds are made solely on the merits and not
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          2  influenced by political considerations.

          3                 Since the public and pension fund

          4  beneficiaries entrust elected officials with

          5  fiduciary responsibility of managing these vast sums

          6  of money, it is essential for the City to give the

          7  public an assurance that these dollars cannot be

          8  easily manipulated by powerful interests.

          9                 This legislation is such an

         10  assurance. If it is passed, people who have the most

         11  to gain from influencing investment decisions would

         12  be prohibited from contributing money to candidates

         13  for City offices thereby drastically reducing their

         14  ability to potentially steer the investment of

         15  billions of pension fund dollars.

         16                 Enactment of this legislation would

         17  remove a potential source of corruption, as well as

         18  the perception that investment decisions are

         19  sometimes made to benefit of well-connected

         20  financiers, not the City employees who pay a portion

         21  of their hard-earned checks into the pension system.

         22                 Members of the Council have often

         23  stated the City's Campaign Finance Law as a model

         24  for the rest of the country, and many City officials

         25  have proclaimed New York to be the national leader
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          2  in reform.

          3                 This legislation gives the City

          4  another opportunity to show that we are leaders in

          5  campaign finance reform.

          6                 While the Security and Exchange

          7  Commission's rules current prohibit brokers,

          8  dealers, and municipal security dealers from making

          9  almost any political contributions, the rules do not

         10  place any restrictions on investment advisors'

         11  contributions. With this legislation, the City will

         12  surpass the federal government and act as a model

         13  for the rest of the nation.

         14                 In fact, it may be a leader in

         15  encouraging the rest of the nation to follow suit.

         16                 In sum, this legislation will make

         17  for cleaner campaigns and more honest government. It

         18  provides a simple, sensible prohibition that will

         19  protect City workers' pension fund money by ensuring

         20  that funds are invested where they can earn the

         21  greatest monetary return, not the greatest political

         22  capital gain. And on behalf of the Mayor, I urge the

         23  Committee to approve this legislation as quickly as

         24  possible.

         25                 Thank you for allowing me today to
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          2  present my testimony, I would certainly welcome any

          3  questions that you may have about this legislation

          4  or its intent at this time.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Let me be clear

          7  as to what you are stating. It is not that the City

          8  employee who is receiving a pension cannot choose to

          9  invest or to make a contribution to the candidate of

         10  his or her choice using their own resources as they

         11  choose and have a right to, but you are saying the

         12  investment fund, which in the City of New York might

         13  be the Comptroller, cannot invest those funds for

         14  any candidate, or any other party who might have the

         15  right or the use or the possibility of investing

         16  pension dollars or control of pension dollars,

         17  cannot utilize pension dollars in any way that any

         18  other private brokerage firm could not do so; is

         19  that correct?

         20                 MR. BARSKY: Well, that is one way of

         21  looking at it, but really what it is, is that the

         22  City, which has almost $100 billion of pension fund

         23  money that is invested with a variety of investment

         24  firms that invest that money for the City, whose

         25  sole purpose it is to get the greatest possible

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  return on that money for the benefit of the City and

          3  its employees, that those firms and members of those

          4  firms shall be prohibited from making political

          5  contributions to any candidate who is part of the

          6  campaign finance program. So that those firms will

          7  not have influence over candidates and be able to

          8  steer investment dollars towards firms that gave the

          9  most contributions rather than the firms who have

         10  demonstrated the ability to manage the money in the

         11  best way for the City. I think that is the real goal

         12  of this program.

         13                 Similar action was taken a few years

         14  ago by the SEC under something called rule G37,

         15  which prohibited underwriters of municipal

         16  securities, people who sell our bonds in the public

         17  markets, from making contributions to candidates,

         18  with the exception, as I mentioned before, where if

         19  you can vote for that candidate, you can give up to

         20  $250. That rule has gone into effect. They have been

         21  considering for some time a similar rule for

         22  investment managers, but have not acted upon it.

         23                 We are urging City Council by passing

         24  this law to make that actual rule go into effect

         25  here in New York City, and that we would truly be a
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          2  leader in the country and I believe many other

          3  places, including perhaps the SEC will soon follow

          4  suit and follow our lead. And I think based on

          5  problems that have occurred around the country,

          6  where there has been shown to be this kind of

          7  political influence and perhaps corruption by doing

          8  this, not only would perhaps prevent those things

          9  from happening, but also would help from an

         10  appearance standpoint, it would give people a sense

         11  that we have a rule that would be in place that

         12  would prohibit this from even being conceived or

         13  being viewed as a problem or a conflict. So, I think

         14  it has a lot of benefits on a lot of different

         15  levels.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Would that apply

         17  to anyone else that has access to or the use of City

         18  funds, banks? City employees have bank accounts, are

         19  for large measure in one or two banks, yet are those

         20  banks then restricted in terms of making

         21  contribution to candidates?

         22                 MR. BARSKY: Some of those banks right

         23  now are in fact -- fall under the existing

         24  prohibition of G37. For example, if that particular

         25  bank is engaged in municipal underwriting, for
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          2  example --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Let's say

          4  Citibank.

          5                 MR. BARSKY: Citigroup owns Solomon

          6  Smith Barney. Solomon Smith Barney is an underwriter

          7  of City bonds. They would then fall under that rule

          8  for that purpose.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Is there some

         10  portion of Citibank, though, that would be excluded,

         11  since Citibank has a large nut to play with, when

         12  they talk about the tremendous resource and having

         13  the ability to use City dollars because they had the

         14  accounts for the payroll of the City of New York. I

         15  mean, that is a marvelous nut to crack. I would love

         16  to have that account.

         17                 MR. BARSKY: They currently right now

         18  are prohibited because of their involvement in

         19  municipal underwriting.

         20                 However, if there are banks that are

         21  not involved in municipal underwriting, but only

         22  involve the investment of pension funds, they

         23  currently are not covered by that rule. So, once

         24  again, what it does is it provides them an

         25  opportunity to make political contributions and have
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          2  undue influence, but because of the problem with

          3  this rule, it also provides an unfair advantage to

          4  that firm who is not restricted to those other firms

          5  who are restricted.

          6                 So, there are two things at play

          7  right here. We are trying to prohibit the investment

          8  so that people can't provide this kind of influence,

          9  but right now the rule currently is not a level

         10  playing field because some are restricted and some

         11  are not.

         12                 What this proposed law would do would

         13  be to further level that playing field so that there

         14  would not be firms who would have an unfair

         15  advantage over other firms that they may be

         16  competing with.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I would think

         18  that anything that would level the playing field

         19  would be of interest to us as a City because there

         20  is no doubt in the minds of those of us in the

         21  Council that we established I think, a worthy goal

         22  and purpose.

         23                 I would like to know, though, as we

         24  make, or if we were to make this step, what other

         25  accounts we should consider while we are taking out
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          2  pension funds.

          3                 Simply because I would not want to

          4  think that only New York City employees are the ones

          5  who are targeted.

          6                 MR. BARSKY: We are not targeting --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Take out smaller

          8  dollar and leave the larger dollar to be used

          9  against us or for others.

         10                 For instance --

         11                 MR. BARSKY: This is not targeted

         12  toward City employees, Chairwoman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Pension dollars

         14  are dollars that are jointly in interest of the

         15  employee and the City of New York.

         16                 MR. BARSKY: That's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: This is not the

         18  City alone. This is a two-party check, right? Part

         19  yours, part ours?

         20                 MR. BARSKY: The rule is aimed at

         21  those firms that provide services for the pension

         22  funds, not the actual employees.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I understand

         24  that.

         25                 But what you are saying is that you
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          2  would make the rules, and I think the idea is a

          3  worthy one to consider. No problem with being

          4  careful, definitely no difficulty in saying let's

          5  make them feel level for everyone.

          6                 I would like to know, though, that

          7  while the City is protecting us, meaning the City of

          8  New York, and providing this level playing field,

          9  because City dollars are involved, have we leveled

         10  it sufficiently so that in terms of City dollars,

         11  that we look carefully and say, hey, we haven't

         12  missed a large pot of money that also should be

         13  considered while we are doing this legislation, does

         14  that make sense to you?

         15                 MR. BARSKY: Yes, it does.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

         17                 So, could you provide us with a

         18  listing of other pots of monies that should also be

         19  included in this legislation so that giving the

         20  City, one, the ability to make sure that the playing

         21  field stays level, that the dollars do not have the

         22  opportunity to fluctuate, and disturb the field in

         23  an unfair manner because we don't know that those

         24  dollars are being used improperly. Could that

         25  request be possible for you to provide us with that
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          2  information?

          3                 MR. BARSKY: Actually, I think that

          4  the right entity to provide that information is

          5  probably the Comptroller's Office because they do

          6  act as custodian for most of these funds and they

          7  probably are the best place to get that list from.

          8  They would probably be the best ones to get that

          9  kind of information, we don't right now maintain

         10  that detailed listing of information, but what you

         11  will find, that by providing this law and putting

         12  this law into effect, you will by doing that cover

         13  other pots of money, because it could cover the same

         14  people who do the same work, whether it be pension

         15  fund or any other fund, if they are covered under

         16  this law, it will also cover them towards the other

         17  work that they may be doing.

         18                 So, I think that this is broad enough

         19  that it will cover a good portion of that industry

         20  because this really does cover the biggest dollars

         21  that we are talking about, when you are talking

         22  about upwards to $100 billion of money that is being

         23  invested.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: All right, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 Council Member Moskowitz, do you have

          3  a question?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 And thank you, Mr. Barsky. I wanted

          7  to ask two kinds of questions. I wanted to

          8  understand who makes the investment decision for the

          9  City of New York for the pension fund. Can you

         10  briefly describe who has that authority?

         11                 MR. BARSKY: The authority is somewhat

         12  two-fold, the pension boards, the Board of Trustees

         13  vote each year and regularly appoint the City

         14  Comptroller as its investment advisor overall.

         15                 The City Comptroller goes through a

         16  process by which they recommend firms to be hired to

         17  the Board of Trustees and then the Board of Trustees

         18  then approve the recommendations made by the City

         19  Comptroller, that is typically what happens.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I

         21  mean this legislation seems awfully broad then. In

         22  other words, you are trying to solve a very

         23  particular problem with a very wide nap. In other

         24  words, as I read the legislation, Intro. 930

         25  prohibits candidates who participate in the Campaign
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          2  Finance Program, I have always participated and plan

          3  to participate in the future, and as a City Council

          4  candidate this legislation would apply to me; is

          5  that not correct?

          6                 MR. BARSKY: That's correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Even though

          8  I have absolutely no say in the City's investment of

          9  pension funds; is that not correct?

         10                 MR. BARSKY: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I find that

         12  troubling and just would like to state so for the

         13  record.

         14                 I understand the problem, and I think

         15  it is very noble of the Administration and whoever

         16  else supports this to try and deal with, you know, I

         17  don't want investment decisions influenced by people

         18  who are making contributions, but this legislation

         19  seems awfully broad. And I would like to make the

         20  point that there are a lot of people out there who

         21  work for Solomon Smith Barney who are civic minded,

         22  who want to support candidates, not because of some

         23  connection and some direct payback but because they

         24  are civic minded, and particularly if you think

         25  about a situation like my race where I am running
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          2  against someone who is not participating in the

          3  Campaign Finance Board, I went to a lot of folks who

          4  made $400 contributions, and they made that in part

          5  because of their interest in Campaign Finance

          6  Reform. So, I am troubled by the breadth of this

          7  legislation.

          8                 MR. BARSKY: Those people that you

          9  referred to would still be able to give you $250

         10  under this legislation.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Right, but

         12  when you are running against a billionaire who

         13  writes one big check to himself or herself, having

         14  made 15,000 cold phone calls, I can tell you it is a

         15  lot easier, I mean obviously it would be great to

         16  raise $300,000 in $10 contributions, that's a lot of

         17  man hours, it's very hard to do and you are going to

         18  end up hurting someone like myself who is running

         19  against a self-financed candidate.

         20                 I guess the other thing I wanted to

         21  understand is, here in the legislation that says

         22  that the contribution is not matchable with public

         23  financing, I don't quite understand the logic of

         24  that. If we say that $250, if they live in the

         25  districts they can contribute, why is that -- it is
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          2  almost as if the legislation is acting as if that is

          3  tainted money, why shouldn't that be matchable? Why

          4  should someone who works at Morgan Stanley or Smith

          5  Barney who makes a $250 contribution, why should

          6  that not be matchable? What is the logic there?

          7                 MR. BARKSY: I think it was decided

          8  that would be the most prudent way to avoid any

          9  undue manipulation of the rules to leverage money

         10  unfairly. So, maybe it was done more as a prudent

         11  measure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I

         13  think that that logic is somewhat specious, and you

         14  are creating two classes of donors. You are creating

         15  kind of good money and bad money. One type of money

         16  is matchable.

         17                 I mean, if we think that someone who

         18  works at Smith Barney may influence a candidate, but

         19  $250 is acceptable, I don't see why we shouldn't

         20  match that the same way we treat it as any other

         21  donor. So, I just would like to state that for the

         22  record.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I think if we

         25  get the information we have requested, as to the
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          2  level playing field that would be part of the level

          3  playing field, because you couldn't have a level

          4  playing field unless everyone had the same

          5  opportunity in terms of the match, you couldn't have

          6  the disparity.

          7                 And I would suggest that that would

          8  be one of the considerations you would discuss and

          9  come back with some answers to this Committee with,

         10  how you would rework that portion of the

         11  legislation, it just doesn't seem feasible to me.

         12                 While we could go to the Comptroller

         13  for the answer, the difficulty I feel or the

         14  question I would ask is, this is the Mayor's

         15  legislation, it puts us in terms of protocol in a

         16  position of saying to the Comptroller what do you

         17  think of the Mayor's legislation. We would not like

         18  to do that unless this is fine with the Mayor's

         19  Office, and we are trying to do that which is

         20  correct. So, if you could come back to us with some

         21  answers, we would like to do that. And use the

         22  Office of the Comptroller as a last resort.

         23                 MR. BARSKY: Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: You are quite

         25  welcome, and thank you for your testimony.
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          2                 Campaign Finance Board.

          3                 Would you please introduce

          4  yourselves, again, by name, title and there is an

          5  organization. Would you identify yourself?

          6                 MS. GORDON: Thank you. I am Nicole

          7  Gordon, the Executive Director of the New York City

          8  Campaign Finance Board, and with me today, to my

          9  right are Deputy Executive Carole Campolo and to my

         10  left, General Counsel Sue Ellen Dodell.

         11                 I have testimony on both bills. I

         12  take it you are going to proceed first with the --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Proceed first

         14  with 930 and then 931.

         15                 MS. GORDON: Okay.

         16                 I think, Chairwoman Pinkett, that

         17  your questions and Council Member Moskowitz'

         18  questions pointed up to some of the concerns that

         19  the Campaign Finance Board also has with this

         20  legislation.

         21                 The legislation intends to address

         22  one element of a very vexing area for municipal

         23  government, and that is the area of contribution to

         24  candidates from people or organizations that seek to

         25  do business with the City. Specifically this
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          2  legislation seeks to curve contributions from

          3  investment advisors who have performed investment

          4  advisory or management services in connection with

          5  City pension and variable supplements funds.

          6                 It is a legitimate public concern but

          7  also an extremely complicated area, and it does

          8  require serious examination to ensure that the

          9  problems to be addressed are in fact resolved by the

         10  proposed solution.

         11                 A number of questions are raised that

         12  the Board believes must be examined in a careful and

         13  complete manner.

         14                 First of all, the June 1st opt-in

         15  deadline is now just ten days away. Over 100

         16  candidates have already opted into the program, and

         17  many more, perhaps double or more, will join the

         18  program before this legislation can be fully

         19  considered and passed and goes into effect.

         20                 Just as it would have been disruptive

         21  and unfair to change the matching rate in an

         22  election year when candidates had been relying on

         23  the 4-to-1 formula, it would also be disruptive and

         24  unfair to consider major new changes in the law now,

         25  particularly when the proposal places new and
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          2  substantial burdens on candidates and many

          3  candidates have already chosen to join the program.

          4                 The Board has always believed in the

          5  wisdom of the law and the Charter which call for a

          6  study of the record of the performance of the

          7  program after an election, followed by

          8  recommendations to amend the act. This process has

          9  served the program well over the years and has

         10  helped insulate the act from any political

         11  maneuvering that may occur during the heat of an

         12  election season.

         13                 We believe that it would truly

         14  undermine the Council's great achievement in passing

         15  and safeguarding this premiere Campaign Finance

         16  Program, if in this historic election year

         17  last-minute changes created a cloud over the core

         18  stability of the program and raised questions

         19  whether the changes are fair to the candidates and

         20  whether they actually bring about meaningful reform,

         21  especially in light of the burdens they may impose.

         22                 This opt-in question also raises

         23  whether candidates who have opted in already, or

         24  those who do before the change becomes effective,

         25  could challenge the new provisions or even their own
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          2  opt-in status as a result of the changes.

          3                 As alluded to before, the population

          4  of candidates who are covered is over- and

          5  under-inclusive, it is directed only at Campaign

          6  Finance program participants, so that a

          7  non-participant who became elected who had

          8  decision-making authority would not be affected.

          9                 It does not cover sitting elected

         10  officials who have decision-making authority, if

         11  they happen not to be running again for a City

         12  office, for example, but on the other hand, it does

         13  cover every candidate for City Council, even though

         14  City Council members have no say over these awards.

         15                 Similarly, the population of

         16  contributors covered is under- and over-inclusive.

         17  For example, the bill does not cover investment

         18  advisors for the deferred compensation board. It

         19  does not cover many other kinds of business dealings

         20  that I believe Chairwoman Pinkett was thinking of

         21  earlier, and for that matter, it would cover -- on

         22  the other hand, it would cover employees at

         23  companies that happen to provide routine systems and

         24  banking services that are ancillary to the

         25  investment activities, but it would not cover all
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          2  those same kinds of systems and banking activities

          3  that happen not to be linked to investment activity.

          4                 So, as an example, a programmer from

          5  a computer company that happens to assist the

          6  pension fund appears to be covered under the law,

          7  while the manager of a computer company that assists

          8  the City on payroll operations would not.

          9                 Next, the proposed legislation would

         10  impose substantial administrative burdens on

         11  candidates. How will an average City Council

         12  candidate know whether any of his or her

         13  contributors fall within the prohibition? How will

         14  that person be able to monitor these contributions?

         15  How will the Board enforce the provision when there

         16  is no reliable available means to identify which

         17  individual contributors fall within the definition?

         18                 Before a Council candidate can take a

         19  contribution under this proposal, he or she must

         20  find out from each contributor whether the

         21  contributor works for an investment advisor for the

         22  pension plan, and find out if that person is

         23  "entitled to vote" for the candidate.

         24                 What does that mean? Is the intent of

         25  this proposal to have Council candidates asking and
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          2  tracking who is"entitled to vote" and who is not?

          3  And as part of effective enforcement, would the

          4  Campaign Finance Board have to be doing intrusive

          5  kind of questioning?

          6                 These are similar items that I will

          7  ask our General Counsel to communicate to Council

          8  staff.

          9                 (Ms. Gordon is not using the

         10  microphone.)

         11                 Surely getting a contribution from

         12  someone who wants to do work for the City is just as

         13  troubling as getting a contribution from someone who

         14  plans to do business with the City.

         15                 These kinds of questions all suggest

         16  the need for more detailed study of the proposal.

         17  For these reasons we believe a consideration of this

         18  proposed legislation, however well intentioned,

         19  should be delayed until after these elections.

         20                 Thank you, and I would be pleased to

         21  answer any questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you for

         23  your testimony, which is, of course, very well

         24  informed.

         25                 I think to continue in the tone that
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          2  Council Member stated earlier, that is that Council

          3  members do not necessarily know who does what with

          4  the pension funds, because we have never ever had

          5  that responsibility. The Mayor doesn't even have

          6  that responsibility. And what it does do is place

          7  the Council, as you have stated, in a position where

          8  we cannot monitor something, and, yet, we are

          9  limiting the trustees of the pension fund because of

         10  the fact that there is a supposition that there may

         11  be a problem in terms of possible corruption which

         12  we are all very concerned about. The question of the

         13  threshold, the $250 where you create a dual system

         14  certainly undermines the very criteria which is

         15  very, very important in terms of campaign finance

         16  and the equity of the situation.

         17                 MS. GORDON: In fact, Council Member

         18  Pinkett, would create a three-tiered system, as I

         19  understand it, because there would be a category of

         20  people who can't give at all, or you can't accept

         21  from at all, then there would be the category from

         22  whom you can accept, and then there is another

         23  category from people whom you can accept $250 but it

         24  can't be matched, so it is a very complex

         25  arrangement.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: The other thing,

          3  of course, it seems to me is that it does place

          4  workers in a position of saying that your

          5  contribution must be scrutinized more closely than

          6  anyone else's contribution. And it places them in a

          7  very difficult position within a City

          8  administration. And, so, we have to be very careful

          9  in terms of how we, with legislation, intrude upon

         10  the rights and obligations of workers, to have a

         11  right to contribute to campaign and to be involved

         12  in campaign. If there is going to be a change, there

         13  ought to be one that covers every citizen, and not

         14  exclude those other than for reasons that are

         15  legitimate and based upon factual and reasonable

         16  loss would not exclude you because you work for the

         17  City of New York, you should not give to the

         18  employer the power to say that you cannot because

         19  you have pension funds, because that mutes, in my

         20  opinion, the authority or the ability of that

         21  employee to fully participate, and that is very

         22  important. Very important. That is what changed this

         23  City.

         24                 So, I want to thank you for your

         25  testimony, and I only want to say to all of you that
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          2  this is a first hearing. We have other witnesses who

          3  will testify on this issue, and you will be hearing

          4  from us and your comments are duly noted and we will

          5  contact you for future hearings.

          6                 MS. GORDON: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Oh, you are

          8  going to testify on 231 -- 291? You have testified

          9  on 291?

         10                 MS. GORDON: We have testimony on 931

         11  if you will hear us?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, good.

         13                 MS. GORDON: Once again, thank you for

         14  the opportunity. As you know, for the first time in

         15  1997, the New York City Campaign Finance Program

         16  included a mandatory debate program, which provides

         17  the citizens with opportunities to see candidates

         18  for Citywide office appear face-to-face in public

         19  debates.

         20                 The Campaign Finance Board learned a

         21  great deal in 1997 and received valuable feedback

         22  from candidates, from sponsors and from the general

         23  public. As a result, the Campaign Finance Board

         24  proposed legislation in December of 1999 to amend

         25  the debate law to address concerns that had been
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          2  voiced, and that legislation which is supported by a

          3  coalition of civic groups include the following:

          4                 Provisions that would allow the City

          5  to indemnify sponsors, permitting debate sponsors to

          6  limit participants to those who meet a minimum

          7  threshold of public support, limiting the second

          8  primary election debate to leading contenders as we

          9  do already with the second general election debate,

         10  eliminating the requirement of an alternative

         11  nonpartisan voter education program, and eliminating

         12  one of the two run-off primary debates.

         13                 The Board believes these changes are

         14  necessary to ensure that the debates are meaningful

         15  and urgent because sponsors need months to plan

         16  ahead.

         17                 On allowing indemnification, the

         18  burden of litigation and the lack of protection for

         19  sponsors I believe discouraged many qualified

         20  entities from applying to conduct debates this year,

         21  after having borne the cost of litigation that

         22  followed the 1997 debate program, it is

         23  understandable that sponsors are unwilling and in

         24  some cases unable to assume the financial risks in

         25  legal fees that the current law places upon them.
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          2                 Many of the 2001 debate programs

          3  major sponsors who have already been chosen have

          4  indicated that without indemnification they will be

          5  unable to sponsor debates which would thwart the

          6  purpose of the debate law and frustrate the needs of

          7  candidates and voters alike.

          8                 In light of the fact that the

          9  exposure from the City's point of view is that of

         10  providing legal counsel, this should not be a

         11  controversial change.

         12                 On establishing debate participation

         13  eligibility, allowing sponsors the ability to limit

         14  participation in the primary election debates and

         15  the first general election debates to those

         16  candidates who demonstrate a minimum level of public

         17  support beyond ballot status, would help to ensure

         18  meaningful debates for the public.

         19                 The Debate Program was not intended

         20  to serve as a soap box for individuals who are on

         21  the ballot but have no campaign. A record number of

         22  candidates is running this year, the value of the

         23  debates could be severely diminished and if in

         24  addition to candidates who are running serious

         25  campaigns the stage must include numbers of
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          2  individuals who do not raise funds or otherwise

          3  engage in activities intended to promote a candidacy

          4  for public office. The public deserves the

          5  opportunity to see a serious discussion of the

          6  issues by candidates who have been waging vigorous

          7  campaigns. Likewise, those candidates deserve the

          8  opportunity to debate each other without forfeiting

          9  much of the time to marginal candidates.

         10                 The Board also recommends treating

         11  the primary debate in the same way as the general

         12  election debates by limiting the second primary

         13  election debate to leading contenders as defined by

         14  objectives on partisan criteria.

         15                 On eliminating the second runoff

         16  debate and alternate forums, the requirement for two

         17  runoff debates, which because it may take the Board

         18  of Elections more than a week, as in 1997, to

         19  certify the results of the elections, the two runoff

         20  debates must take place within a span of one week,

         21  and that places a heavy burden on the sponsors.

         22                 In 1997 the sponsors strenuously

         23  objected to this requirement and given the

         24  compressed time period, the Board agrees it is

         25  overly burdensome, and that one debate for the
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          2  runoff election is sufficient. This applies for all

          3  three Citywide offices.

          4                 In addition, the 1997 alternate

          5  forums for candidates who did not quality as leading

          6  contenders did not generate public interest, and the

          7  Board has proposed repealing this requirement

          8  eliminating a significant administrative burden for

          9  the debate sponsors.

         10                 Intro. 931 concerning changes to the

         11  debate law includes only two of the above

         12  provisions, permitting indemnification and

         13  eliminating the alternate forums in the general

         14  election.

         15                 We are pleased that these provisions

         16  have been introduced but deeply concerned that none

         17  of the others has been introduced.

         18                 Each of the proposed amendments is

         19  critical to ensuring the continued viability of the

         20  program and greater civic discourse it creates and I

         21  urge the Council to consider the entire package.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

         24  Moskowitz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair. And thank you, Ms. Gordon, for your

          3  testimony.

          4                 I understand the dilemma, or I think

          5  I do, that you need to have serious discussion among

          6  the so-called leading contenders, but I also worry

          7  that how is leading contenders defined,

          8  third-parties, as a historian, I can tell you have

          9  played a significant role in this country. I don't

         10  subscribe to the principles of the socialist party,

         11  but the socialist party pressured the mainstream

         12  parties to create many of the social programs that

         13  are now considered mainstream, and I would also

         14  argue that even the George Spitz of the world who

         15  don't have a significant backing, and claims he is

         16  the only octogenarian, vegetarian, Orthodox Jew in

         17  the race, brings a perspective that is important for

         18  voters to see, and I am very concerned that this

         19  legislation would further marginalize third parties

         20  and individuals who may have no organization or

         21  limited organization but contribute nonetheless to

         22  the civic discourse that you are referring to.

         23                 MS. GORDON: I think you have a very

         24  legitimate concern and I think it is something that

         25  the Board was very sensitive to and debated at
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          2  length in making these recommendations.

          3                 The trouble is, and by the way I want

          4  to make it clear, there is nothing that restricts

          5  any of the candidates who participated only in the

          6  debates that are sponsored through the Board

          7  mandate. As you know, there are already many, many

          8  forums in which all of the candidates are appearing.

          9                 The problem is that we have in New

         10  York a system, a system that has only two

         11  qualifications now for appearing in some of our

         12  debates, one is being a program participant, and the

         13  other is being on the ballot.

         14                 What happens is in many races you

         15  expect candidates, if another candidate does not

         16  belong on the ballot to challenge that candidate. In

         17  a Mayoral race, for example, that often does not

         18  happen because the candidates who are running real

         19  campaigns don't find it worth their while to

         20  challenge a candidate nobody is taking very

         21  seriously, and defacto a candidate ends up on the

         22  ballot who might not survive a ballot challenge if

         23  there were one.

         24                 Now, what happens in the case of the

         25  debates, and I am not overstating this, I think we
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          2  all know there are at least four candidates in the

          3  democratic primary, for example, who everybody looks

          4  upon as various candidates, and then there are we

          5  don't know how many others who will qualify on the

          6  basis of the two criteria to be in the debates.

          7                 And I think a serious question is

          8  raised, especially if you look back at the actual

          9  experience of 1997, how much is added, if anything,

         10  to the debate, by people who are not necessarily

         11  waging a serious campaign.

         12                 I think the solution is that of the

         13  objective criteria you were referring to should be

         14  set at a very, very minimal level --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Well, why

         16  not specify them?  I am uncomfortable with the law

         17  going out there where, you know, it changes year to

         18  year.

         19                 MS. GORDON: Right. Well, the civic

         20  groups have recommended a specific language for it.

         21  The view of the Board had been to leave that to the

         22  objective criteria chosen by the journalist

         23  sponsors, which is what the Supreme Court has said

         24  is a permissible standard, and that was the thinking

         25  of the Board.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I am not

          3  sure I understand. What does the Supreme Court say?

          4                 MS. GORDON: The Supreme Court gave,

          5  rendered a decision that dealt with the ability of

          6  journalists in a public TV station to exclude

          7  candidates from the debate.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: And what

          9  was --

         10                 MS. GORDON: And the Supreme Court

         11  concluded that journalists could, based on

         12  journalistic standards, do that.

         13                 We waited for that decision to come

         14  down before trying to craft any recommended

         15  legislation, and we went further than where we

         16  thought the supreme court was by saying, all right,

         17  not only should journalists, the sponsors be making

         18  this decision, but they should have told the public

         19  ahead of time what the criteria are going to be so

         20  there can't be any question that later on there was

         21  some favoritism or anything like that.

         22                 And I am quite sure that the

         23  responsible journalists and others who would be

         24  chosen for these debates would choose reasonable

         25  criteria.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: What are

          3  reasonable -- I mean, could you just give me some

          4  sense of what you consider reasonable?

          5                 MS. GORDON: Well, the options are a

          6  small dollar amount in money that has been raised

          7  and spent, for example, and one of the things that

          8  you see, if you look at some of the candidacies, and

          9  you want to judge how serious they are, you will

         10  find that there are many candidacies, there are

         11  people on the ballot who spend no money at all. It

         12  is not about running a campaign. And another

         13  criterion that is used, that was used for the

         14  leading contender debate last time was polls, or a

         15  series of polls, if you meet the bottom at any one

         16  of them you get included, that was how it was done

         17  last time. Those are the two primary bases.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Well, with

         19  someone like George Spitz, I don't know how much

         20  money he has raised, but I assume not very much, he

         21  would be excluded I presume?

         22                 MS. GORDON: Well, I think it depends

         23  on what dollar amount you choose.

         24                 I don't know how much he has raised

         25  or spent in this campaign, but I think a very small
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          2  dollar amount would make a very big difference in

          3  how many people appeared on the stage and whether

          4  the public was getting a meaningful look at

          5  candidates they want to hear from or should be

          6  hearing from. But I think the Board was very

          7  sensitive to the concerns you raised. I think the

          8  Board was trying to come to a middle ground that

          9  would provide the public with a meaningful education

         10  forum, which is what we think the debate was all

         11  about, and that the conclusion that it reached was

         12  that there should be some means, an objective means

         13  applied by journalists that would make the debates

         14  meaningful for the public.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I just

         16  would make one last comment, and that is, as a

         17  diehard democrat, you know I was very frustrated

         18  with Ralph Nadir's role in this race, and the loss

         19  of the presidency, you know, it is kind of a

         20  case-by-case, you know, when third-parties

         21  contribute and when they may be spoilers is a very

         22  difficult thing, and I think at the moment it

         23  becomes very political, and I just think the

         24  vagueness of this, without providing any guidance as

         25  to what would be reasonable makes me very nervous.
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          2                 MS. GORDON: Well, just so you are

          3  aware, though, I mean the current debate law does

          4  have similar kinds of provisions for the leading

          5  contenders debate in the general election, it

          6  doesn't specify what they are, it says that the

          7  sponsor shall set predetermined objective criteria,

          8  and this was going to be a second tier, that was the

          9  theory behind it, that would be a much lower

         10  standard, but that would nevertheless give the

         11  sponsors the opportunity to keep the debates

         12  manageable.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

         16                 I think the point would be that our

         17  concern is that no one be excluded.

         18                 Speaking of the candidate that you

         19  are referring to, I don't believe that he could be

         20  shut out. Having had the opportunity to work with

         21  him over the years, in the matter even of machines,

         22  questioning the Board as to whether or not they are

         23  spending too much for computerized machines, no, it

         24  is not important to purchase that machine, we can do

         25  it more cheaply than that, don't buy that machine.
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          2                 I think we can rely on the fact that

          3  that particular candidate is not a babe in the

          4  woods, I don't care how old he is, I personally

          5  received from him a note about his campaign and he

          6  is very cognizant of the political process.

          7                 How do we manage so that they have a

          8  voice?

          9                 This election I have found that

         10  everyone has jumped into the water to hold

         11  opportunities for candidates to be heard. Everyone

         12  wants to be the big -- what would I call them, mobah

         13  (phonetic)? In other words, they are the ones who

         14  want to be in control of the Council, so you will

         15  find that so many people are holding candidates

         16  nights and hearings all over the lot, sometimes

         17  three in one night. The thing that I think must be

         18  assured is that people have adequate information in

         19  advance. What we should use is as many of the public

         20  stations as we possibly can to make sure that they

         21  have as much public exposure in addition to that as

         22  possible, and also to look at this legislation and

         23  to see that every possible opportunity be provided

         24  so that they are not just written off.

         25                 Please don't talk about Ralph Nadir,
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          2  he upsets me. That is the best reason that I can

          3  think of that kills your argument.

          4                 MS. GORDON: Chairwoman Pinkett, I

          5  would just also remember, have us all remember that

          6  the reason for the debate program in the first

          7  instance was not so much to be of service to

          8  everybody as it was to get candidates into a debate

          9  who were refusing to meet with each other.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         11                 MS. GORDON: It was almost the

         12  opposite purpose, in a way, from what we are talking

         13  about now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes.

         15                 So, I think we can work to see if

         16  there is things we can propose. We will have another

         17  hearing, at that time if there are changes or

         18  suggestions let's hear them, and let's see what we

         19  can do.

         20                 As far as the rest of your package, I

         21  don't know if we can commit to that, but at least we

         22  will look at it and we will see where we can go from

         23  there.

         24                 MS. GORDON: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Our next
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          2  witness, I believe, Ross Sandler.

          3                 MR. SANDLER: Hello. Nice to see you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Nice to see you

          5  again.

          6                 MR. SANDLER: My name is Ross Sandler.

          7  I am a Professor of Law at New York Law School, and

          8  I direct the Center for New York City Law.

          9                 We had the honor of being one of the

         10  sponsors of debates in the last election for

         11  Comptroller, and as a result we have some

         12  familiarity with that and with the Campaign Finance

         13  Program all together.

         14                 On the bill that is before you, we

         15  would like to strongly endorse the indemnification

         16  portion. Now, it may be that some institutions, this

         17  is not so important, but for the kinds of civic

         18  organizations that are likely to want to sponsor

         19  debates, whether they be St. Frances College or New

         20  York Law School, or CUNY, or other institutions that

         21  are really educational institutions, to undertake a

         22  public responsibility and then have to indemnify the

         23  City of New York for it seems the wrong, a

         24  wrong-headed way of going about it, and I agree with

         25  Nicole Gordon that there would have been more
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          2  applications this year for sponsorship if this

          3  provision had not been in the law. There were far

          4  fewer this year than there were the first go-around.

          5                 So, I would urge you to pass that.

          6                 Secondly, on the debates, I was the

          7  moderator of the Comptroller debates, and the first

          8  thing I would like to call to your attention, we are

          9  not just talking about the Mayor's debate, we are

         10  talking about the Comptroller and the Public

         11  Advocate, and for those offices there is an

         12  abundance of people who appear out of nowhere and

         13  they sign up for the Campaign Finance Program and do

         14  not raise any money, do not spend any money, get

         15  petitions signed who knows how, and no one pays

         16  attention to them, and then they have a debate and

         17  they show up and now they are on the platform.

         18                 So, last year we had two serious

         19  candidates, a Republican and a Democrat, then we had

         20  two other candidates, one of whom was very concerned

         21  about the farmers of New York City, another one

         22  urged us to adopt Fidel Castro's sports programs,

         23  another one, one of the same two said in answers to

         24  questions about the City finance that she really

         25  didn't know anything about City finances, and that
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          2  if you really wanted to know about that you should

          3  ask an expert like Alan Hevesi.

          4                 So, it was a joke, instead of having

          5  a serious debate, where two candidates who had not

          6  had much publicity in the way the Mayoral candidates

          7  do, this was an opportunity to have a broad

          8  exposure, how to share the time, half of it went to

          9  the two candidates who had no campaign, and were not

         10  adding anything I think of importance to the public

         11  discourse, but occupied half the debate time.

         12                 Now, it seems to me there should be

         13  some floor on this, and it can be devised. We

         14  certainly want to have serious third parties,

         15  serious fourth parties, people who were engaged in

         16  the public discourse to be a participant. To have

         17  people who are there as a lark and then occupy their

         18  percentage of the time, and it destroys the basic

         19  purpose of these debates to give exposure to

         20  candidates, and I particularly want to emphasize the

         21  Comptroller and Public Advocate, we have seen a lot

         22  of stuff about the Mayor and we will always, but

         23  Comptroller, think about Bill Thompson and Herb

         24  Berman and they are sitting there with four or five

         25  other people, they are going to get one-fifth,
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          2  one-sixth of the time to make their case, and that

          3  is, I think unfortunate for their candidacies, and I

          4  would urge you to think about this issue, and allow

          5  the sponsors to set very low thresholds but

          6  nonetheless a threshold that would knock out

          7  somebody who is not raising money, not spending

          8  money, is not out campaigning and is not a serious

          9  debater in the public arena.

         10                 So, I would urge you to consider

         11  that. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you for

         13  your testimony.

         14                 Any questions?

         15                 Council Member Moskowitz, please --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I will be

         17  brief.

         18                 I understand the problem, and I am

         19  sympathetic, but when you say you don't know how

         20  they managed to get on the ballot, it is not so easy

         21  to get on the ballot in New York City, it has gotten

         22  a little easier with some laws, you know, you can be

         23  a resident of New York and now be a witness on a

         24  petition, but that seems like a pretty good

         25  criteria. I mean, why not have that be a criteria,
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          2  valid signatures.

          3                 I know for City Council, you have to

          4  amount a pretty substantial -- I don't find it very

          5  easy to get on the ballot and I have a pretty good

          6  operation and I am out seven days a week, six hours

          7  a day, now why not use that as a threshold?

          8                 MR. SANDLER: Because, I think Nicole

          9  Gordon said it best, what happens is the candidates

         10  who have no serious following come in under the

         11  radar, so if you are a serious candidate, you have a

         12  serious opponent, you are going to look at their

         13  petitions. If there is an odd candidacy out there

         14  that is of no concern to you, you are not going to

         15  spend so much time examining their petitions, and

         16  what happens is we believe, that candidates who if

         17  their petitions were seriously examined you would

         18  find they really haven't gone through the hard work

         19  you defined.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Well, it's

         21  pretty easy to do, you can actually do computer

         22  matches. You take the voter file, and you take, you

         23  know, you plug in the names and you figure out if

         24  they have the minimum number of signatures, if

         25  someone can, you know, get on the ballot, it seems
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          2  to me -- you know, I am open to arguments as to why

          3  that person shouldn't be, but my presumption would

          4  be that that would be a sufficient amount of work,

          5  and even if the candidates aren't checking you can

          6  do a computerized match and figure out if they

          7  qualify. So, just a thought for a future discussion.

          8                 MR. SANDLER: As you know, it is hard

          9  work to do that, and I don't know anybody that is

         10  undertaking that work, including the sponsors of

         11  these debates, but I would urge you, if you have any

         12  doubt about this, take a look at the tape of the

         13  Comptroller's debate that I moderated and see what

         14  happens to the serious candidates who allude --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I

         16  understand that, but we have to come up with a

         17  remedy and the remedy has to be appropriate and it

         18  has to be fair, it has to be inclusive, and, you

         19  know, I think I am a little leery when you say,

         20  well, I don't know how they got on the ballot, you

         21  know, it is a lot of work to get on the ballot and I

         22  think that would be something worth looking at if

         23  that could be a criteria, given the age of the

         24  computer, it wouldn't be so hard to figure out if

         25  the person qualified.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you so

          4  much for your testimony.

          5                 MR. SANDLER: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: NYPIRG.

          7                 Please identify yourself by name,

          8  title and repeat the name of your organization.

          9                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: Good morning. My name

         10  is Neal Rosenstein. I am the Government Reform

         11  Coordinator for NYPIRG, the New York Public Interest

         12  Research Group. I want to thank you for the

         13  opportunity to testify here this morning.

         14                 NYPIRG urges the Council and this

         15  Committee not to enact any version of Intro. 930,

         16  the Campaign Contribution Pension bill, prior to

         17  this year's election.

         18                 Our view here mirrors our view during

         19  the recent debate on Mayor Giuliani's proposal to

         20  change the Campaign Finance Laws for one matching

         21  formula. It is simply wrong to change the rules in

         22  the middle of the game.

         23                 This is especially true for a change

         24  that raises complicated questions about how to limit

         25  the influence of contributors who are doing business
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          2  with the City.

          3                 For more than 15 years, City

          4  officials and civic groups like NYPIRG have grappled

          5  with ways to limit the influence of individuals who

          6  do business with the City.

          7                 In the mid-eighties, State

          8  legislation was enacted limiting contributions from

          9  those doing business with the City to members of the

         10  then Board of Estimate, the Goodman Law, but it was

         11  unsuccessful, and a subsequent doing business ban

         12  bill proposed by the Koch Administration was deemed

         13  unworkable.

         14                 After that the City adopted the

         15  present campaign finance law, its premise kind of a

         16  carrot as opposed to a stick approach, is to provide

         17  incentives to candidates to seek a broad funding

         18  base, instead of relying on contributions from those

         19  doing business with the City.

         20                 Just a couple of years ago in '98, a

         21  Charter Revision appointed by Mayor Giuliani took up

         22  the issue of contributions from those doing business

         23  with the City, but it came to realize the

         24  challenging problems and ended up proposing a simple

         25  reporting requirement instead.
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          2                 I mentioned some challenging problems

          3  and Intro. 930 demonstrates the problems involved in

          4  trying to tackle this issue and I would just like to

          5  go over a couple.

          6                 First, why are contribution

          7  restrictions applied to only investment advisors?

          8  Why not City contractors in the City which has

          9  billions of dollars of contracts? Or those seeking

         10  Land Use permits, this is a Land Use town, and I am

         11  sure a lot of people would be concerned about

         12  contributions from real estate interests as well.

         13                 I think what is needed is a

         14  thoughtful discussion of appropriate restrictions

         15  and how to make them work.

         16                 Second, spouses and children of

         17  investment advisors can still make a matchable

         18  contribution, up to $4,500 for Citywide candidates.

         19  This is a major loophole that undermines the very

         20  approach which is offered in 930, and it was raised

         21  by Council Member Moskowitz earlier, should

         22  contribution limits apply to Council Members who

         23  don't even serve on the pension fund boards which

         24  are cited in the legislation.

         25                 What would be the impact of a
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          2  retroactive requirement on the willingness of

          3  candidates to remain in the program, or potentially

          4  initiate legal action against the program, it goes

          5  back to the changing of the rules of the game in

          6  midstream.

          7                 And, finally, what could be done to

          8  stop influenced peddling by investment advisors and

          9  other people doing business in the City on

         10  candidates that don't participate in the Campaign

         11  Finance Program? It's a lot of questions.

         12                 In addition, Intro. 930 would limit

         13  the discretion of the Campaign Finance Board in

         14  promulgating rules. We don't see what the rationale

         15  is for changing the Board's authority, which has

         16  been in place since 1998 when the City's campaign

         17  finance law was first enacted.

         18                 For these reasons we urge the

         19  Committee not to approve this bill, to wait for the

         20  outcome of this year's elections before considering

         21  such substantive changes for the Campaign Finance

         22  Law.

         23                 And lastly, I would just like to add

         24  that NYPIRG supports the technical changes in Intro.

         25  931 regarding sponsor indemnification.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you very

          3  much for your testimony.

          4                 Nancy Ross.

          5                 Please identify yourself by title and

          6  organization.

          7                 MS. ROSS: Thank you very much. My

          8  name is Nancy Ross and I am the Issues Chair of the

          9  Independence party, the third largest party in the

         10  State, 50,000 members in the City, plus representing

         11  beyond that the 700,000 unaffiliated voters.

         12                 The Independence Party strongly

         13  opposes eliminating the alternate education forums

         14  for so-called non-leading contenders.

         15                 While this may relieve the sponsors

         16  of arranging a public forum, it is a disservice, in

         17  our opinion, to the public, who will lose an

         18  opportunity to hear equally from all the candidates,

         19  whom meet and equally qualify for the ballot.

         20                 The purpose of public debate should

         21  be to inform the public and let them decide who they

         22  want to vote for, let the public decide who the

         23  serious contenders are, not for the sponsors to

         24  decide who the serious contenders are.

         25                 Introductory bill 931 is particularly
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          2  troubling. Giving that criteria for inclusion in the

          3  debates while supposedly objective nonpartisan and

          4  non-discriminatory can be highly unfair. As we know

          5  from the presidential elections, the 15 percent

          6  threshold guarantee the inclusion of only Bush and

          7  Gore, this 15 percent threshold was also used to

          8  exclude the Republican candidate for Public Advocate

          9  in the last election. Yet, this candidate went on to

         10  get 24 percent of the vote.

         11                 If used in Minnesota, this criteria

         12  would have also excluded Governor Jesse Ventora, who

         13  was at ten percent at the polls before the debates

         14  and went on to win the election. The only fair

         15  polling question should be who do you want to see in

         16  the debate, not who are you going to devote for.

         17                 Given the highly exclusive debates

         18  formula, to now eliminate ultimate forums would be

         19  unfair and discriminatory. To qualify candidates who

         20  have agreed to join the campaign finance program and

         21  who are on the ballot, they should be the only

         22  objective requirement for inclusion in the debates.

         23                 It's not unlike a sport or it should

         24  not be unlike a sports -- excuse me, I haven't

         25  finished.
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          2                 This should be like a sports event,

          3  like a golf or pool or something like that, where

          4  you handicap the leading contenders, and you hear

          5  first from the other candidates.

          6                 At a minimum, the City Council should

          7  maintain the present alternate educational forums.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

         10                 MS. ROSS: You should not pass 931,

         11  you should vote against it. I think you should

         12  consider the debates very much like a sporting

         13  event, like golf, or pool or another event like

         14  that, where you handicap the leading contenders and

         15  the first people you would hear from would be the

         16  other candidates.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, I consider

         18  this more like an emergency room, that we are a

         19  lifeline to the City of New York, a vibrant force to

         20  keep the state alive, hopefully to reinvigorate the

         21  United States government.

         22                 Are you from Pat Buchanan's Party?

         23                 MS. ROSS: No, I am not from Pat

         24  Buchanan's Party. In fact, Pat Buchanan, as far as I

         25  know --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Was he --

          3                 MS. ROSS: No, he did not run on the

          4  independence party line, John Haglan ran on the

          5  independent party line.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: John Haglan, oh,

          7  then you were from the other side.

          8                 MS. ROSS: The Independence Party is

          9  New York State's third largest party.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I am only trying

         11  to get the --

         12                 MS. ROSS: Pat Buchanan was not the

         13  candidate.

         14                 What is the point of that kind of

         15  question?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I am trying to

         17  identify for my understanding --

         18                 MS. ROSS: What is the point?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: The point was to

         20  be clarified for me which part of the party you were

         21  speaking for, that's all.

         22                 MS. ROSS: See, our contention is it

         23  doesn't matter if someone is --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I understand

         25  your contention.
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          2                 MS. ROSS:-- Accused of the right,

          3  left or center, the public should decide whether

          4  they like those views, not the City Council --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I am not

          6  deciding that I like or don't like, I was seeking

          7  information.

          8                 Thank you so very much for your

          9  testimony.

         10                 MS. ROSS: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And this is not

         12  a sporting contest.

         13                 Citizens' Union. Please identify

         14  yourselves by name and title.

         15                 MR. SCOTTO: My name is Alex Scotto

         16  (phonetic), I am a Issues Associate, and I am here

         17  with Pudja Kumar (phonetic), also an Issues

         18  Associate, we are here from Citizens' Union,

         19  speaking on behalf of them.

         20                 As the oldest, largest and one of the

         21  most influential good government organizations in

         22  New York City, we feel that it is important that we

         23  come before the Committee today to express our

         24  opinions on the two bills presented.

         25                 One of those bills, Intro. 930, seeks
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          2  to expand restrictions on contributors to

          3  candidates' campaigns. The other bill, Intro. 931,

          4  deals with a more specific issue dealing with the

          5  public debates required for candidates enrolled in

          6  the Campaign Finance Program and running for

          7  Citywide offices.

          8                 Citizens' Union objects to the

          9  changes proposed in Intro. 930, for this election

         10  year. The proposal in this bill would restrict

         11  candidates from accepting contributions from

         12  investment advisors for City funds, including the

         13  City's pension funds.

         14                 The proposed amendments do make

         15  exceptions for investment advisors who are City

         16  voters, allowing them up to a $250 individual

         17  contribution with the only restriction then being

         18  that the funds are not matchable.

         19                 During the recent debates over under

         20  term limits and the 4-to-1 matching funds, Citizens'

         21  Union has stressed the absolute necessity that all

         22  matters pertaining to this election should not be

         23  subject to change, when so many candidates have

         24  already staked so much of their time and effort on

         25  the laws that are already in the books.
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          2                 Intro. 930 as proposed would be

          3  retroactive and could have significant consequences

          4  for candidates already deep into the fund-raising

          5  cycle. Furthermore, we oppose the portion of the

          6  bill that would limit the discretion of the Campaign

          7  Finance Board in promulgating its rules.

          8                 There is no reason that any changes

          9  to the authority of the Board need to be made right

         10  now, four months before the primary.

         11                 Such changes would only serve to hurt

         12  this agency, rather than help it fulfill its

         13  mission.

         14                 New York City has the best municipal

         15  campaign finance law in the nation, we should

         16  support it and let the rest of the country hear how

         17  well it works, giving average citizens a way to

         18  compete for public office, without having to be

         19  dependent on special interest donors.

         20                 We do not support any efforts that

         21  would have the effect of trying to reveal, repeal,

         22  revise or weaken it in its first year of full

         23  City-wide application.

         24                 We need to see how it plays out and

         25  then see if any adjustments need to be made.
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          2                 Finally, as per Intro. 931, Citizens'

          3  Union supports the indemnification environment, as

          4  long as sponsors are held accountable for their

          5  liability.

          6                 We support efforts to provide

          7  incentives for sponsorship with the contingency that

          8  the City's and voters' interests are not compromised

          9  in the process.

         10                 Thank you for providing us with an

         11  opportunity to speak today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MR. SCOTTO: Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Arthur Fried.

         16  Please identify yourself by title and organization.

         17                 MR. FRIED: Thank you very much for

         18  the opportunity to testify today. My name is Arthur

         19  Fried. I am the Executive Director of the Center for

         20  Excellence in New York City Governance at New York

         21  University.

         22                 The Council has before it today two

         23  issues of significant concern and significant

         24  difficulty. Let me start first with Intro. 930,

         25  which is an attempt to revisit the significant issue
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          2  of the influence of individuals in doing business

          3  with the City through contributions to candidates

          4  running for election.

          5                 As has been stated by previous

          6  testifiers today, this is an issue that the City,

          7  through the Campaign Finance provisions, has

          8  grappled with for quite some time and the Center for

          9  Excellence supports revisiting a look at that issue,

         10  particularly in light of recent publicity which can

         11  serve in the voters' mind to cast questions to what

         12  that impact and influence of those contributions

         13  are.

         14                 However, at this late stage in the

         15  process, as individuals have indicated, to attempt

         16  to address a very complex and complicated issue in

         17  the way that has been suggested would not do justice

         18  to the nature of the issue, so the suggestion is

         19  that this issue be considered by the Council, that

         20  the Campaign Finance Board be asked for its view as

         21  to whether there are any ways to improve the way the

         22  rules address the influence of contributions by

         23  entities and individuals doing business with the

         24  City, and that a very thoughtful process be

         25  undertaken to address those issues.
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          2                 The second proposal before the

          3  Council today is Intro. 931. As a potential debate

          4  sponsor we support the modifications on

          5  indemnification proposed by the Campaign Finance

          6  Board, it is a significant concern and impediment

          7  deterrent to entities seeking to sponsor debates and

          8  then I think this is certainly an appropriate

          9  suggestion.

         10                 The proposal with respect to

         11  addressing the non-leading contender concern is I

         12  think far more complicated and therefore difficult.

         13                 While previous election debates have

         14  indicated the need to address this area because of

         15  the very important and dear debate time taken up by

         16  individuals who are not serious contenders, this is

         17  a significant contribution to the discussion.

         18  However, it seems from the discussion today and from

         19  what I know about this, that the real issue is that

         20  there is a very significant belief that the petition

         21  signatures of those individuals to get on the

         22  ballot, which is one of the main considerations,

         23  obviously, and whether they are eligible to

         24  participate in the debates, are not legitimate. But

         25  there is no one with the authority and incentive to
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          2  challenge those signatures. So, one way to address

          3  this problem could be, rather than putting into the

          4  hands of the sponsors, could be to find an entity

          5  and give it the authority and the incentive to look

          6  seriously at the petition signatures, to see if they

          7  are legitimate or not and use that as the criteria

          8  for allowing them to debate.

          9                 The second consideration that I have

         10  here is that, this is an issue that is of very

         11  significant importance to the public, and I don't

         12  believe should be in the hands of individual debate

         13  sponsors to devise criteria that may differ from

         14  debate to debate, and would not be subject to public

         15  scrutiny and discussion. So, my suggestion would be

         16  that the definition of leading contender and

         17  therefore eligibility of the debate should be

         18  undertaken by a government entity and subject to

         19  public discussion debate and rule-making before it

         20  is set.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

         23  Sabini.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair.
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          2                 As a friend of the Wagner School, I

          3  welcome any testimony you have. And it is a big day

          4  here so I have been popping in and out.

          5                 You said something about petition

          6  signatures being a criteria, could you elaborate on

          7  that?

          8                 MR. FRIED: Currently for the debates,

          9  up until the final general election to date, the

         10  rule is for eligibility to participate in that

         11  debate, the individual has to be on the ballot which

         12  is determined by the number of signatures they

         13  submit to the Board of Elections, and be a

         14  participant in the Campaign Finance Board program,

         15  which is done by the election of the individual.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So, it is not

         17  the number of petition signatures you are talking

         18  about, rather whether or not they are on the ballot?

         19                 MR. FRIED: Right, but they get on the

         20  ballot by satisfying the State law requirements for

         21  the number --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But you are

         23  not suggesting you would measure the size of their

         24  petition or the validity of the signatures to

         25  determine that? The Board of Elections does that --
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          2                 MR. FRIED: The Board of Elections --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, the

          4  Board actually doesn't do it, what happens is that

          5  the individual candidates challenge or not

          6  challenge.

          7                 MR. FRIED: What happens currently,

          8  and this was the concern that was expressed by the

          9  Campaign Finance Board, that individuals collect

         10  signatures and submit them to the Board of

         11  Elections. They collect the number of signatures

         12  that facially appear to satisfy the numerical

         13  requirements of the state law, they will be put on

         14  the ballot absent a challenge.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         16                 MR. FRIED: Major candidates for

         17  Citywide and perhaps other offices will not

         18  challenge the signatures of a very minor candidate

         19  if they don't believe that that candidate will have

         20  any impact on their ability to become elected.

         21                 So, what you have had in the past,

         22  and I think that is what this provision is addressed

         23  towards, is individuals who got on the ballot, but

         24  it is believed not through collecting --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: This will be
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          2  the Melendez phenomenon, is that what we are working

          3  toward?

          4                 MR. FRIED: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. And I

          6  agree, and shame on the contenders for not

          7  challenging them, because my attitude is as someone

          8  who grew up as, you know, with sort of a good

          9  government background, there is nothing inherently

         10  wrong about using the election law if the person

         11  really doesn't know the signatures, that some people

         12  really don't belong on the ballot, that open access

         13  doesn't mean open to everyone, but at the same

         14  token, that there is sort of a trap on the other end

         15  of that and the trap on the other end of that is

         16  that, you look at 1977, which was a year where there

         17  was an entire turnover of City Government, and the

         18  lowest number of signatures for Mayor was filed by

         19  Ed Koch, he won, the lowest number of signatures for

         20  Council President was filed by Carol Bellamy, she

         21  won, so I don't know -- and as someone who has run

         22  for office, when we file petitions I always say

         23  there is no need to file, we don't need to get

         24  quadruple the number, we just need enough to

         25  qualify. I am trying to get at what you mean by
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          2  that, I guess I am getting at what you mean; how

          3  would you determine whose signatures are valid and

          4  whose aren't?

          5                 MR. FRIED: I am not suggesting that

          6  for purposes of the debate the signature number be

          7  different than the State law for qualifying for the

          8  ballot. What I am suggesting is that if the concern

          9  is that some candidates qualify for the ballot, and

         10  therefore qualify for the debate, with signatures

         11  that are not legitimate ballot signatures then the

         12  solution may be to address that issue.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Who would do

         14  that?

         15                 MR. FRIED: I think it ought to be a

         16  governmental entity, the Campaign Finance Board

         17  perhaps is in a position to do that, the Board of

         18  Elections perhaps is in a position to do that since

         19  it is their responsibility to evaluate ultimately.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So they would

         21  say someone who is on the ballot really didn't

         22  belong but no one, I am sort of at a loss to figure

         23  out where we are going with this.

         24                 MR. FRIED: One possibility is they

         25  didn't belong on the ballot but nobody challenged
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          2  them. State law prohibits us from taking them off

          3  the ballot, but we are looking for a standard for

          4  taking them out of the debate, which is already

          5  written into the law, the process is in the law, but

          6  there is no standard. And if the concern is they are

          7  individuals who don't really belong on the ballot,

          8  then perhaps we should address that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Operationally

         10  --

         11                 MR. FRIED: Giving, as the Campaign

         12  Board suggests, media sponsors and journalist

         13  sponsors, the ability to define the standard

         14  perhaps.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Operationally

         16  I just wonder how this happens. Like, for example,

         17  if we go back to '97, what if this plan were in

         18  place and they found out that, say, Reverend

         19  Sharpton didn't belong on the ballot, would you

         20  exclude him from the debates?

         21                 MR. FRIED: If that were the plan in

         22  place and that was the outcome.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I can see that

         24  opening a whole can of worms, you know, and more

         25  litigation.
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          2                 MR. FRIED: Maybe the solution is we

          3  have a compromise which is the final debates leading

          4  contenders are excluded and for others they are not.

          5                 But I think whatever the process is

          6  for excluding individuals, it ought to be a

          7  government-driven public open process.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: What if you

          9  found out that the candidate that didn't have the

         10  signatures and therefore didn't qualify to debate

         11  wins the election, it is sort of like Florida, it is

         12  sort of like they shouldn't have been on the ballot

         13  but they won.

         14                 MR. FRIED: Right. But currently that

         15  outcome is a possibility that somebody is excluded

         16  from the debate --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But no one

         18  checks.

         19                 MR. FRIED: -- By a standard which is

         20  defined by sponsors of which my organization might

         21  be one and then could win the election because they

         22  are on the ballot.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But the

         24  standards now are, I believe, based on some

         25  poll-driven or result driven -- and it is not a
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          2  perfect system, I am just wondering out loud.

          3                 MR. FRIED: If the provision, if this

          4  provision is adopted, which allows debate sponsors

          5  of the final primary and following debates to

          6  eliminate non-leading contenders from the debates,

          7  you could have somebody eliminated from a debate by

          8  a public poll which occurred six weeks, or by series

          9  of public polls which occurred six weeks or more

         10  before the debate.

         11                 That also seems to be an

         12  uncomfortable.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The scenario I

         14  suggested is probably more likely to happen, and

         15  that is that a candidate who may be high in the

         16  polls may be found not to have had qualifying

         17  signatures and reality.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I think you will

         19  find that there is a possibility, given the way

         20  people collect signatures, that you may have someone

         21  that you can say, are you a registered voter? Yes.

         22  Did you vote in the last election? Yes. Would you

         23  please sign my petition? They sign.

         24                 Then when you check, you will find

         25  not only do they not live where they said they
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          2  lived, they haven't voted in the last ten years, and

          3  then not a registered voter. So, actually it is an

          4  act of faith to take that signature.

          5                 Now, the one reason when someone

          6  said, I think Council Member Moskowitz, Eva

          7  Moskowitz said if I get the exact number, you know,

          8  as long as I get the numbers I need, that's it. No,

          9  it is not it. Because some of the numbers that you

         10  get will be wrong because you have to deal with the

         11  public who may think that they are registered, but

         12  is not aware that there is a cleansing process. If

         13  you haven't voted in a certain period of time, you

         14  are removed. So you are not a registered voter, you

         15  are not in the files, you are not there, and, so,

         16  you are not there.

         17                 MR. FRIED: Well, I certainly favor

         18  simplification of the signature and the

         19  qualifications of the ballot process.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I think that it

         21  is correct to say that if the initiation as far as

         22  being a candidate is validated by Campaign Finance,

         23  and the validation is that they are indeed

         24  considered qualified because they have qualified by

         25  signatures, there has to be a way of verifying that
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          2  those are good, because as a candidate I have to

          3  have good signatures in order to qualify as a

          4  candidate.

          5                 If I can bring in 5,000 bad

          6  signatures, I am not a candidate.

          7                 MR. FRIED: Only if somebody

          8  challenges you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Someone will

         10  challenge, either the candidate or the --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I think both

         12  of us are suggesting that that is not the case. That

         13  is not the case. We have had candidates who were not

         14  challenged.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, in most

         16  counties it doesn't happen that way, in my county or

         17  your county it doesn't happen that way.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: We had

         19  candidates for Mayor that I think we all agree did

         20  not really make the ballot. My concern is that we

         21  play sort of gotcha after the ballot is certified,

         22  and that that further --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I don't know

         24  about that case, but I know in the last few years

         25  what happened is --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, I think

          3  in the case of Mr. Melendez, it was generally

          4  regarded as gerrymandering of the signatures, but

          5  everyone sort of left him on because they wanted to

          6  leave him on.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Poor Mr.

          8  Melendez --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And we would

         10  have been treated with singing at the debate, which

         11  was really the highlight of the 1997 election cycle,

         12  but the point, Madam Chair, goes back to what I said

         13  in an earlier hearing which is that it would

         14  undermine, things like that undermine people's

         15  confidence in the process and we want people to have

         16  confidence in the process.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And that's one

         18  reason why we are having this discussion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Because possibly

         21  what we are talking about is not just putting people

         22  on a ballot or giving money away or allowing people

         23  to just say I am a candidate, I am going to talk, I

         24  am going to be heard, I am going to walk in, I am

         25  going to declare that I am a candidate here. I
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          2  qualify. But they have got to prove that they are

          3  qualified, somebody has to verify that they are

          4  qualified, and that they are indeed, if they are

          5  going to use time, that they have got to be a

          6  bonafide candidate, and they have got to be a real

          7  candidate and somebody has got to do the checking.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And if we do

          9  what Mr. Fried suggests, I would suggest we do it

         10  before the certification process rather than after,

         11  that's all I am saying.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Before the

         13  certification process, I agree with that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         15                 MR. FRIED: My point is we mainly need

         16  to be extremely careful at the standards we use to

         17  determine whether they qualify for the debate.

         18  Which, you know, the way people get information as

         19  the Campaign draws to a close is critically

         20  important.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I would agree

         22  with that, too. Because I think one of the things

         23  that has happened with government, especially in

         24  these particular years, is that people have lost

         25  very much the respect for government or think that
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          2  government is very important. Maybe there are few

          3  people who say, well, it is important to do things

          4  in a certain way, but the average citizen doesn't

          5  really believe very much in government, because they

          6  have found, or they believe they have found, that it

          7  doesn't work, that it doesn't matter, and, so, they

          8  have got to have an experience that makes them think

          9  that people are checking, people care, people count,

         10  and that someone is going to be involved that is

         11  going to make a difference.

         12                 MR. FRIED: Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: It's too bad.

         14                 Thank you for your testimony.

         15                 MR. FRIED: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I would like to

         17  say that the following organizations could not be

         18  present but they have submitted testimony, and so

         19  The League of Women's Voters, the Mayor's Office and

         20  Alan Hevesi, testimony will be entered into the

         21  record, despite the fact that they could not be

         22  present.

         23                 Thank you very much for your

         24  presence. I believed that everyone that wished to

         25  testify has been identified and called upon.
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          2                 If there is anyone here who was not

          3  called, and who submitted a request to testify has

          4  been called. If there is anyone who did submit a

          5  request and was not called, please raise your hand.

          6                 Seeing no one, this meeting is

          7  adjourned.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 The following testimony was read into

         10  the record.)

         11

         12  Written Testimony Of:

         13  Barbara Barr

         14  League of Women Voters, NYC

         15

         16                 Testimony re: Int. 931 - in relation

         17  to the mandatory debate requirement for candidates

         18  participating in the campaign finance program for

         19  citywide elections.

         20                 May 22, 2001, Committee on Government

         21  Operations.

         22                 The League of Women Voters of the

         23  City of New York welcomes the opportunity to testify

         24  on changes to the mandatory requirements for

         25  candidates participating in the campaign finance
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          2  program for citywide elections.

          3                 Our major focus is that any change

          4  benefit for the voters, the citizens of New York

          5  City. The public campaign financing program has

          6  proved its worth by limiting the effect of special

          7  interests, and is being considered by municipalities

          8  throughout the country.

          9                 Previously we have contacted Speaker

         10  Peter Vallone on this issue and we reiterate our

         11  support for permitting the League of Women Voters,

         12  as a debate sponsor, to limit participation to those

         13  candidates who meet a minimum threshold of public

         14  support.

         15                 In assessing the significance of a

         16  candidacy the League takes into account the results

         17  of significant, reliable, nonpartisan public opinion

         18  polls such as professional pollsters, independent

         19  newspapers and broadcasters, and university research

         20  centers.

         21                 Candidates must meet all state and

         22  local requirements and there must be evidence of a

         23  formal campaign (e.g. Presence of headquarters,

         24  campaign staff, issuance of position papers,

         25  campaign appearances, etc.) We would consider
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          2  putting a dollar amount on the financial support a

          3  candidate must receive, but this might require

          4  changes due to circumstances or inflation.

          5                 We also support limiting the

          6  secondary primary debate to "leading contenders" and

          7  requiring only one run-off primary debate.

          8                 In regard to Int. 931, we continue to

          9  support an "alternate forum" prior to the general

         10  election, so that the ideas, policies and programs

         11  of those candidates who are not "leading contenders"

         12  may be presented to the public. However, in fairness

         13  to the voters, and in order to provide them with the

         14  information they need when they go to the polls, we

         15  urge that the official debates be limited to those

         16  candidates who join the New York City Campaign

         17  Finance Program and who meets the sponsors'

         18  criteria.

         19                 A sponsor, such as the League,

         20  continues to need indemnification from frivolous

         21  lawsuits brought by individuals who do not meet

         22  these specifications. The public benefits when

         23  valuable airtime is not taken away from those

         24  qualified candidates who will be our next Mayor, our

         25  next Public Advocate, our next Comptroller.
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          2                 We urge your support on these issues

          3  which will affect the voters and voting in the 2001

          4  elections. We refer you to our previous support

          5  regarding the Board of Elections where we

          6  recommended increased pay and training for election

          7  inspectors, simplifying the verification process of

          8  registration and voting machines in operating

          9  condition.

         10                 New York City voters deserve no less.

         11

         12  Letter from Alan G. Hevesi, Comptroller, to Hon.

         13  Mary Pinkett, Chair, Committee on Governmental

         14  Operations, dated May 22, 2001.

         15

         16                 Dear Chair Pinkett:

         17                 I write regarding Intro. 930, which

         18  would prohibit entities that do business with New

         19  York City's five pension funds from making

         20  contributions to campaigns for citywide office.

         21  Thank you for the invitation to testify at today's

         22  hearing. Unfortunately, scheduling conflicts prevent

         23  me from appearing before you in person.

         24                 However, I do wish to register my

         25  position on this bill. I strongly support Intro 930
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          2  and urge its prompt usage.

          3                 All decisions to invest with an asset

          4  management firm are made by the pension boards,

          5  which include employee representatives,

          6  representatives of the Comptroller's office, the

          7  Public Advocate, the Mayor, and in one case, of the

          8  Borough Presidents. Because representatives of so

          9  many independent entities are involved in the

         10  decisions, the pension boards are well insulated

         11  from the possibility that any one elected official

         12  could improperly channel investments to a campaign

         13  contributor.

         14                 Additionally, the entities wishing to

         15  do business with our pension funds are carefully

         16  vetted as to record, ability, and substance by my

         17  Office as well as by each Board's outside pension

         18  consultant or, in some cases, by an independent,

         19  professional financial advisor selected by a

         20  competitive RFP.

         21                 Nonetheless, I strongly support

         22  Intro. 930. Thank you for holding a hearing on this

         23  important matter.

         24                 Sincerely, Alan G. Hevesi.

         25
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          2  Written Testimony Of:

          3  Joshua D. Filler

          4  Director of City Legislative Affairs

          5          - and -

          6  Chief of Staff to the

          7  Deputy Mayor for Operations

          8

          9                 Memorandum In Opposition.

         10                 Title: A Local Law to amend the

         11  administrative code of the City of New York, in

         12  relation to the mandatory debate requirement for

         13  candidates participating in the campaign finance

         14  program for citywide elections.

         15                 Legislative Reference: Introductory

         16  Number 931.

         17                 Summary of Provisions:

         18                 Currently, organizations that sponsor

         19  the mandatory debates for candidates participating

         20  in the Campaign Finance Program are required to

         21  indemnify the City for "any liability arising from

         22  the acts or omissions of the sponsor" NYC Ad. Code S

         23  3-709.5. This legislation would remove this

         24  requirement from the law as well.

         25                 Reasons for Opposition:
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          2                 This legislation would repeal two

          3  requirements from the City's 1996 debate law.

          4  Neither of the bill's provisions is necessary or

          5  appropriate.

          6                 The New York City debate law gives

          7  organizations that elect to sponsor the debates wide

          8  latitude to determine a debate's terms and, in the

          9  case of the second general election debate, the

         10  candidates who qualify to participate. A candidate

         11  who feels unfairly penalized by a sponsor's debate

         12  rules or who believes that s/he was arbitrarily

         13  excluded from a debate may bring a lawsuit against

         14  the City seeking damages. In order to safeguard

         15  taxpayer dollars from lawsuits brought against the

         16  City because of decisions made by debate sponsors,

         17  the debate law contains a sensible provisions

         18  requiring sponsors to indemnify the

         19  City for "any liability arising from the acts or

         20  omissions of the sponsor."

         21                 By repealing the indemnification

         22  provision from the statute, this legislation would

         23  remove an important protection for the City and

         24  leave taxpayer dollars more vulnerable to liability

         25  claims. So long as the law allows sponsors to
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          2  control the terms of the debates and, in some cases,

          3  the debate participants, the City must be protected

          4  from having to pay damages that may result from

          5  those decisions.

          6                 The bill would also repeal the

          7  provision of the debate law that requires sponsors

          8  to provide "an alternative nonpartisan voter

          9  education program" for candidates who are not

         10  designated as leading contenders and who, therefore,

         11  do not qualify to participate in the second general

         12  election debate.

         13                 The alternative forum requirement is

         14  intended to ensure that lesser candidates have a

         15  chance to express their views in a formal public

         16  setting. Both leading and non-leading candidates who

         17  participate in the CFP abide by the same rules and

         18  restrictions, and so should expect to receive

         19  roughly the same benefits from the program.

         20                 While it is sensible to exclude

         21  non-leading contenders from the second general

         22  election debate, it would be unfair to refuse these

         23  candidates any sort of public forum near Election

         24  Day. Furthermore, by repealing the alternative forum

         25  requirement, the bill would narrow opportunities for
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          2  voters to be exposed to all the candidates and all

          3  of their ideas.

          4                 In sum, neither provision of this

          5  bill is sensible. Its deletion of the

          6  indemnification requirement would increase the

          7  chances that the City will have to pay damages to an

          8  aggrieved candidate and would, therefore, be a

          9  disservice to taxpayers.

         10                 Likewise, its attempt to repeal the

         11  requirement for the alternative forum would be a

         12  disservice to the candidates who agree to

         13  participate in the CFP and to those citizens who

         14  wish to hear all the candidates' voices.

         15                 Accordingly, the Mayor urges the

         16  Council to not approve this legislation.

         17                 Respectfully submitted,

         18                 Joshua D. Filler.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 12:50 p.m.)

         20
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 22nd day of May 2001.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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